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United States Patent and Trademark Office

Office of Enrollment and Discipline

Mr. Steven Lipman
Maier & Maier, PLLC
345 South Patrick Street

Alexandria, Virginia 22314

PERSONAL AND CONFIDENTIAL

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Re: File No. G2423, Matthew Swyers
LACK OF RESPONSE TO OED'S THIRD REQUEST FOR INFORMATION AND
EVIDENCE UNDER 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(f)

Dear Mr. Lipman:

The Office ofEm-ollmentand Discipline ("OED") of the United States Patent and Trademark
Office ("USPTO" or "Office") has received the response ofyour client, Mr. Matthew Swyers,
dated April 15,2015, to OED's Third Request for Information ("Third RFI"). However,
Mr. Swyers did not provide a full and complete response to Question Two of OED's Third RFI.
His failure to do so raises ethical considerations under 37 C.F.R. § 11.801(b).

The Third RFI included a request for Mr. Swyers to identify current and former employees ofhis
company. The specific request for information that is the subject of this letter reads as follows:

Please provide the full names, mailing addresses and personal telephone
numbers for all of the current and former employees of The Trademark
Company. This list should also include non-paid interns, clerks, and
volunteers.

The above request is lawful. See 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.22(a) and 11.22(f)(l)(ii). It is a
straightforward request for unprivileged information. It seeks the names and contact information
ofpersons who are likely to have firsthand information regarding the alleged misconduct under
investigation in OED File No. G2423. Those persons are material witnesses who will be able to
provide statements that may rebut or corroborate key facts and otherwise provide exonerating or
incriminating evidence. Mr. Swyers has a duty to cooperate with OED in the conduct of its
investigation. See § 11.801(b). Yet, instead ofcomplying with his duties under § 11.801(b),
Mr. Swyers provided the name ofonly one current employee, {see April 15,2015 Response at
24, 42), but he withheld that employee's address and telephone number(s). And instead of
providing all ofthe requested information, Mr. Swyers raised what are reasonably viewed as
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frivolous, conclusory, and vague objections. His objections to the above request are discussed
below.

To begin, Mr. Swyers objected to providing the names, addresses, and telephone numbers ofhis
employees by claiming that the request is "overly broad, unduly burdensome, and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery ofadmissible, probative, non-redundant, and relevant
evidence or information." See April 15,2015 Response at 8, T| ll(i). Mr. Swyers' withholding
ofmaterial information from the OED Director for this reason does not appear to bejustified for
at least three reasons. First, the USPTO Rules ofProfessionalConduct do not allow for any such
objection. Second, Mr. Swyers' assertion that the request is "overly broad" and "xmduly
bxirdensome" is directly contrary to his representation to OED that his company has very few
current and former employees, namely: 14 current employees (including two interns), 15 former
employees, and 10 former non-paid interns. See April 15,2015 Response at 24, Tf 40. Third, the
names and contact information of persons who are likely to be able to corroborate or rebut the
allegations ofmisconduct under investigation are unquestionably calculated to lead to the
discovery ofprobative, non-redundant, and relevant evidence. Indeed, Mr. Swyers admitted that
he did not know how many trademarkapplication submissions were improperlysigned by his
current or former employees. See April 15,2015 Response at 7, ^ 8. Standing alone, his
admission makes the request plainly relevant.

It is also noted that Mr. Swyers personally certified to OED that he conducted a reasonable
inquiry into the issue and is representing to OED that there is evidentiaryand legal support for
his claim that the request for witness names and contact information is "overly broad, unduly
burdensome, and not reasonablycalculatedto lead to the discoveryofadmissible, probative,
non-redimdant, and relevant evidence or information." However, he did not provide any
evidentiarysupportor rationale for the objection. This failure—especially in light ofhis
admission— flirther suggests the objection is baseless.

Next, Mr. Swyers did not provide the names, addresses, and telephone numbers for the witnesses
based on an objectionto the lack of instructions or definitions in the Third RFI: "Respondent
objects to each instruction or definition (or lack thereof), ofeach of OED's requests to the extent
they seek admissible, probative, non-redundant, and relevant evidence or information that are
protectedfrom disclosureby the attorney-client privilege, deliberative process privilege, attorney
work product doctrine, any other applicable privilege, etc." See April 15, 2015 Response at 8, ^
1l(ii). Mr. Swyers' failure to provide the requested information basedon this objectionalso seems
to lack reasonable justification. First, objecting to a lack of instructions or definitions seems
plainly frivolous when the requested information (names, addresses, and telephone numbers) is
unambiguous, as it is here. Second, the USPTO Rules ofProfessional Conduct do not allow for
such objections, i.e., Mr. Swyers' reliance on 37 C.F.R. § 11.106 as a basis for not providing the
information is misplaced. Section 11.106 concerns the confidentiality ofclient information
relating to the representation ofa client. See 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.106(a) and 11.106(b). The requested
names ofwitnesses and contact information do not constitute confidential client information
relating to the representation ofa client. Third, Mr. Swyers asserts privileges that seemingly do
not apply. The requested names, addresses, and telephone numbers of witnesses are basic
information. They are not confidential communications between an attorney and a client for the
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purpose ofseeking, obtaining, or providing legal assistanceto the client (as is required for
assertion ofthe attorney-client privilege); not communications that are part ofa governmental
decision-makingprocess (as is required for assertion ofthe deliberative process privilege); and not
information prepared by counsel in anticipation of litigation (as is required for assertion of the
attorney-work product doctrine). Again, Mr. Swyers did not provide any explanation ofhow the
asserted privileges apply as he would have reasonably been expected to do in light ofhis personal
certification to OED that he conducted a reasonable inquiry into the legal issues and formed the
belief that the assertions of privilege are warranted by existing law or by a non-frivolous argument
for the extension, modification, or reversal ofexisting law or the establishment of new law.
Accordingly, there appears to be no factual or legal justification for this objection.

Mr. Swyers also objected to providing witness information in response to the Third RFI "to the
extent they are oppressive or unnecessarily expensive." See April 15,2015 Response at 9, ^
ll(iii). This objection is seeminglyfrivolous, as well. It cannot be reasonablyargued that
producing the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of39 witness is oppressive or
unnecessarily expensive. For example, it is reasonable to believe that it would cost Mr. Swyers
nothing and take him less than 15 minutes to obtain the requested information for the 15 current
employees ofThe TrademarkCompany. Yet, Mr. Swyersprovidedno explanationwhy it would
be unduly burdensome or expensive to obtain this information. It is troublesome that Mr. Swyers
asserted this objection in light ofhis personal certification to OED that he conducted a reasonable
inquiry on the matter and represented to OED that the potentially "oppressive" or "unnecessarily
expensive" nature of the request has evidentiary support.

Finally, Mr. Swyers objected to the Third RFI "to the extent they do or may violate, or do or may
adversely impact, the privacy ofTMC personnel in general or under Federal, or State law in
particular" and "to the extent they do or may violate, or do or may adversely impact, the legal
rights of TMC personnelunder Federal or State law." See April 15,2015 Responseat 9, ^ 1l(iv)
and (v). The objection seems frivolous because it cannot be reasonablyargued that producing the
requested names, addresses, and telephone numbers of persons who likely possess material
information about the issues being investigated by OED violates any federal or state law and/or
adversely impacts the witnesses' legal rights. Again, it is worrisome that Mr. Swyers has not
identified any such law or provided any explanation for his conclusoryassertions in light ofhis
personal certificationto the OED Director that (a) he conducted a reasonably inquiry into the issue
and (b) believes that his assertions regarding the unidentified Federal and State laws are warranted.

In sum, it is the positionofthe OED Directorthat Mr. Swyers is requiredto providethe requested
information. See 37 C.F.R. § 11.801(b). Accordingly, the purpose ofthis letter is two-fold:
(1) to provide Mr. Swyers with notice ofthe adverse consequences that may arise when a
registered practitioner does not comply with § 11.801(b),and (2) to provide Mr. Swyers with a
second and final opportunity to respond fully to the Third RFI. Regarding the former, a failure to
respond and or a failure to respond fully to an RFI entitles the Committee on Discipline, when
making a determination under 37 C.F.R. § 11.32, to draw an adverse inference regarding omissions
to assert what would naturally have been asserted under the circumstances. See Baxter v.
Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308 (1976). Moreover, a practitioner who violates § 11.801(b) is subject to
discipline.
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Accordingly, we again request that Mr. Swyers providea completeand accurate response to the
following request for information:

Please provide the full names, mailing addresses and personal telephone
numbers for all of the current and former employees of The Trademark
Company. This list should also include non-paid interns, clerks, and
volunteers.

We also invite Mr. Swyers to provide specific factual and legal support for any objections raised,
as well as any other information he believes will be helpful to the OED Director in examining
the issues raised in this letter, in his response

We request that the response be received by OED within seven (7) days of the date ofthis letter,
i.e.. by April 23,2015. Please have Mr. Swyersaddress his response to Mail Stop OED, U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office, P.O. Box 1450, Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450, and refer to
OED file number G2423 in the heading.

It is also important for Mr. Swyers to understand that it is OED's obligation to develop all
information relevant to the information received in his response to this letter, including
information that may justify or exonerate the alleged actions ofa registered practitioner or
mitigate the seriousness ofany violations that may have occurred in connection with the issues
raised in this letter. Thus, as mentioned, Mr. Swyers' response may result in a decision to
dismiss the matter addressed in this letter or to pursue action under 37 C.F.R. § 11.32. The OED
Director, however, will make no determination for disposition ofthe matter addressed in this
letter until Mr. Swyers has been afforded an opportunity to fully state his position within seven
(7) days ofthe date of this letter.

This is Mr. Swyers' opportunity pursuant to U.S.C. § 558(c), if appropriate, to demonstrate that
he is or has come into compliance with § 11.801(b). We will attempt to verify the statements in
his response to this letter just as we do with other the information provided to us. For this
reason, and because a practitioner could be subject to discipline for making a materially false
statement or deliberately failing to disclose a material fact in connection with a disciplinary
matter {see 37 CFR §§ 11.804(c) and 11.804(d)), Mr. Swyers should accurately set forth his
factual statements.

If you or Mr. Swyers have any questions about this letter, you should not hesitate to contact OED
at (571) 272-4097.

Sincerely,

Gerard Taylor
StaffAttorney
Office ofEnrollment and Discipline
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